IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.) S.CT. NO. 17-1798
KAYLA HAAS,))
Defendant-Appellant.	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR STORY COUNTY
HONORABLE STEVEN P. VAN MAREL (Suppression) AND
HONORABLE JAMES MALLOY (Trial and Sentencing), JUDGES

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH
State Appellate Defender
NAN JENNISCH
Assistant Appellate Defender
njennisch@spd.state.ia.us
NICHOLAS JONES
Legal Intern
njones@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us
STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Officers were motivated to stop Haas because of her presence in front of a specific house. Lacking reasonable suspicion, the officers surveilled her vehicle for over an hour. The officers initiated a traffic stop unrelated to enforcement of the traffic law, motivated only by her presence at the house. Was Haas thereby subject to an impermissible pretextual seizure in violation of article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution?

Authorities

State v. Harrison, 846 N.W.2d 362, 371 (Iowa 2014)

A. Federal precedent.

U.S. Const. Amend. IV

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 8-9; 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1873 (1968)

U.S. Const. Amend. IV

Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648 at 653, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 1398 (1979)

United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 884, 95 S.Ct. 2574, 2582 (1975)

Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996)

B. Independent Interpretation of the Iowa Constitution.

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 812 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 7-14 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474, 496-506 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 287-91 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 284-85 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001)

King v. State, 797 N.W.2d 565, 571 (Iowa 2011)

C. Pretextual stops violate article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution.

Phyllis W. Beck & Patricia A. Daly, State Constitutional Analysis of Pretext Stops: Racial Profiling and Public Policy Concerns, 72 Temp. L.Rev. 597, 597 (1999)

David O. Markus, Whren v. United States: A Pretext to Subvert the Fourth Amendment, 14 Harv. BlackLetter L.J. 91, 96–109 (1998)

Patricia Leary & Stephanie Rae Williams, Toward a State Constitutional Check on Police Discretion to Patrol the Fourth Amendment's Outer Frontier: A Subjective Test for Pretextual Seizures, 69 Temp. L. Rev. 1007, 1025 (1996)

State v. Heath, 929 A.2d 390, 398, 402 (Del. Super. Ct. 2006)

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27; 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1873 (1968)

Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 813, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996)

Kevin R. Johnson, How Racial Profiling Became the Law of the Land: United States v. Brignoni-Ponce and Whren v. United States and the Need for Truly Rebellious Lawyering, 98 Geo. L.J. 1005, 1063-64 (April 2010)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 291 (Iowa 2000)

Sunghoon Roh & Matthew B. Robinson, A Geographic Approach to Racial Profiling: The Microanalysis and Macroanalysis of Racial Disparity in Traffic Stops, 12:2 Police Quarterly 137, pdf pp.3-7 (June 2009),

https://libres.uncg.edu/ir/asu/f/Robinson_Mathew_Roh_200 9_A_Geographical_Approach.pdf.

Kelly Montgomery, Note, Leaving Well Enough Alone – Why the "Would Have" Standard Works Well for Determining Pretext Stops in Washington State: A Critical Analysis of the Whren Decision, 21 Seattle U. L. Rev. 159, 169 (Summer 1997)

United States v. Cannon, 29 F.3d 472, 475-76 (9th Cir. 1994)

State v. Ochoa, 206 P.3d 143 (N.M. Ct. App. 2008)

State v. Ladson, 979 P.2d 833 (Wash. 1999)

State v. Ladson, 979 P.2d 833, 836 (Wash. 1999)

Robert F. Williams, The Law of American State Constitutions, 194 (2009)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 267 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Cooley, 229 N.W.2d 755, 758 (Iowa 1975)

State v. Aschenbrenner, 289 N.W.2d 618, 619 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Bailey, 452 N.W.2d 181, 182 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Heminover, 619 N.W.2d 353 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Hoskins, 711 N.W.2d 720 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Griffith, 691 N.W.2d 734 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Freeman, 705 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 13 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474, 492 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Harrison, 846 N.W.2d 362, 371 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d 284 (Iowa 2017)

Kathy A. Bolten, Iowa Studies Show Blacks Stopped More Often Than Whites (Aug. 15, 2015),

http://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/news/crime-and-courts/2015/08/16/black-iowa-racial-profiling-studies/31787611/

Dr. Christopher Barnum, ICPD Traffic Stop Analysis, p. 50 http://www8.iowa-city.org/weblink/0/doc/1524344/Electron ic.aspx (last viewed February 12, 2018)

State v. Cooley, 229 N.W.2d 755, 761 (Iowa 1975)

State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767, 782-84 (Iowa 2010)

Varnum v. Brien, 764 N.W.2d 862, (Iowa 2009)

D. The stop conducted on Haas was pretextual.

State v. Cooley, 229 N.W.2d 755, 756 (Iowa 1975)

State v. Aschenbrenner, 289 N.W.2d 618 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Bailey, 452 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Heminover, 619 N.W.2d 353 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Heath, 929 A.2d 390, 403 (Del. Super. Ct. 2006)

State v. Ochoa, 206 P.3d 143, 155-56 (N.M. Ct. App. 2008)

II. This court has held officers have reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle if it is owned by a suspended driver and there are no circumstances invalidating the officers' assumption that the owner is also the driver. Were there circumstances invalidating the officers' assumption that the owner was also the driver?

Authorities

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775 (Iowa 2010)

DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56, 62 (Iowa 2002)

Aller v. Rodgers Mach. Mfg. Co., 268 N.W.2d 830, 840 (Iowa 1978)

Kane v. State, 436 N.W.2d 624, 626 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Green, 896 N.W.2d 770, 775 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Brown, 890 N.W.2d 315, 321(Iowa 2017)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2025, 2063 (1984)

State v. Artzer, 609 N.W.2d 526, 531 (Iowa 2000)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Lyman, 776 N.W.2d 865, 878 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775, 786 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Schoelerman, 315 N.W.2d 67, 71-72 (Iowa 1982)

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968)

United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 95 S.Ct. 2574 (1975)

Michigan v. Summers, 452 U.S. 692, 101 S.Ct. 2587 (1981)

Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319 (1983)

U.S. v. Hensley, 713 F.2d 220 (6th Cir. 1983)

Com. V. Rodriquez, 614 A.2d 1378, 1384 (Pa. 1992)

A. The fact that the registered owner of a vehicle is barred from driving does not necessarily amount to reasonable suspicion to seize the vehicle.

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775 (Iowa 2010)

B. Officers in this case were aware of circumstances indicating the registered owner was not the driver, making it unreasonable to infer, at the time of the stop, that Haas was the driver.

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775 (Iowa 2010)

C. Alternatively, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to address <u>Vance</u> in both the motion to suppress and during the hearing on the motion to suppress.

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d 284 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Goff, 342 N.W.2d 830, 838 (Iowa 1983)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2025, 2063 (1984)

State v. Artzer, 609 N.W.2d 526, 531 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 620 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Lyman, 776 N.W.2d 865, 878 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Schoelerman, 315 N.W.2d 67, 71-72 (Iowa 1982)

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.1

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.1 cmt. 5

State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203, 210 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Schoelerman, 315 N.W.2d 67, 72 (Iowa 1982)

Ledzema v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134, 143 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 500 (Iowa 2012)

III. The officers in this case cited a malfunctioning license plate light as a ground for the traffic stop. The video record is, at the least, inconsistent with the assertion that Haas's license plate light was not working. Defense counsel failed to challenge whether the plate light was, in fact, malfunctioning. Was counsel ineffective for this failure?

<u>Authorities</u>

Kane v. State, 436 N.W.2d 624, 626 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Hildebrant, 405 N.W.2d 839, 840-41 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Oetken, 613 N.W.2d 679, 683 (Iowa 2000)

Ledezma v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134, 141 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Green, 896 N.W.2d 770, 775 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Brown, 890 N.W.2d 315, 321 (Iowa 2017)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2025, 2063 (1984)

State v. Artzer, 609 N.W.2d 526, 531 (Iowa 2000)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Halverson, 857 N.W.2d 632, 635 (Iowa 2015)

A. Defense counsel had a duty to challenge whether the light was in fact malfunctioning.

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct32:1.1

Iowa R. of Prof'l Conduct, Comment 5

State v. Lopez, No. 16-1213, 2018 WL 672085, @ *3 (Iowa February 2, 2018)

State v. Harris, 891 N.W.2d 182, 186 (Iowa 2017)

Iowa Code § 321.388 (2017)

State v. Lyon, 862 N.W.2d 391 (Iowa 2010)

B. Haas was prejudiced by the failure to challenge the plate light as grounds for the stop.

Ledzema v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134, 143 (Iowa 2001)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2066 (1984)

E.g. Weeks v. U.S., 232 U.S. 383, 34 S.Ct. 341 (1914)

Wolf v. People of State of Colorado, 338 U.S. 25, 69 S.Ct. 1359 (1949)

Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684

State v. Harrison, 846 N.W.2d 362 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775 (Iowa 2010)

IV. The district court failed to consider Haas's reasonable ability to pay court costs and attorney fees. Consideration of the reasonable ability to pay is a constitutional prerequisite for imposing court costs and attorney fees. Did the district court deprive Haas of procedural due process and fail to exercise its discretion when it failed to consider Haas's reasonable ability to pay?

Authorities

State v. Janz, 358 N.W.2d 547, 548-49 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 626 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)

State v. Coleman, No. 16-0900, 2018 WL 672132 (Iowa Feb. 2, 2018)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Blank, 570 N.W.2d 924, 927 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 527 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Kurtz, 878 N.W.2d 469, 472 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Christensen, No. 09-1457, 2010 WL 5276884 (Iowa Dec. 17, 2010)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 646-47 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Dvorsky, 322 N.W.2d 62, 67 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Wagner, 484 N.W.2d 212, 216 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Kaelin, 362 N.W.2d 526, 528 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Storrs, 351 N.W.2d 520, 522 (Iowa 1984)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because an issue raised involves a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). The issue of pretextual seizure has not yet been decided under article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by

Defendant-Appellant Kayla Jean Haas from her conviction and sentence for driving while barred, an aggravated misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code Section 321.560 (2017), entered following a bench trial.

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On June 23, 2017 the State filed a trial information charging Haas with driving while barred, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code Section 321.561. (6/23/17 Trial Information) (App. pp. 6-7). Haas pled not guilty and waived her right to speedy trial on July 10, 2017. (7/10/17 Written Arraignment and Plea of Not Guilty) (Conf. App. pp. 26-27).

Haas filed a motion to suppress on August 21, 2017, claiming she was subject to a pretextual stop in violation of her rights guaranteed by article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution. (8/21/17 Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 8-16). The district court held a suppression hearing on October 12, 2017 (Supp. Tr. 1:1-25). Haas's motion to suppress was denied. (10/12/17 Order) (App. pp. 17-18).

Haas waived jury trial on October 31, 2017. (10/31/17 Waiver of Jury Trial; Tr. 3:1-22) (App. pp. 19-20). A bench trial on the minutes of testimony was held November 1, 2017. (Tr. 3:1-22). Haas was found guilty as charged. (11/1/17 Order of Disposition; Tr. 5:14-9) (App. pp. 21-23). The court sentenced Haas to thirty days in the jail, a fine of \$625, surcharge, court costs, and attorney fees. (11/1/17 Order of Disposition; Tr. 9:12-16) (App. pp. 21-23).

Haas timely filed her notice of appeal on November 7, 2017. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 24-25).

Facts: Ames police had been surveilling the house at 403 Oliver Street in Ames for at least a week prior to June 9, 2017.

(Hertz Incident Report p.5; Supp. Tr. 6:24-7:1) (Conf. App. p. 19). Police searched the home on June 8, 2017. (Supp. Tr. 7:4-7). The officer in this case testified he did not take part in the search and did not know what was found. (Supp. Tr. 24:20-25:2). The record does not indicate what, if anything, was found at the home.

On June 9, Officers Spoon and Hertz of the Ames Police Department spotted a Ford Explorer parked outside the house at 403 Oliver. (Hertz Incident Report p.5; Supp. Tr. 6:21-7:1) (Conf. App. p. 19). They arrived before sunset and parked down the block. (Supp. Tr. 8:4-6, 7:19-21). The officers ran the license plate of the Explorer and it came back registered to Haas, whose license was barred. (Hertz Incident Report p.5; Minutes of Testimony; Supp. Tr. 9:17-10:2) (Conf. App. p. 19).

Officers Spoon and Hertz sat and watched the car for over an hour. (Supp. Tr. 7:22-23). It was light out when they arrived but the sun went down and it got dark before the vehicle finally left. (Supp. Tr. 8:2-6). During their surveillance the officers had observed three people loading items into the SUV.

(Supp. Tr. 8:10-16). In the dark of night, the officers saw three people get in the car, but did not know which of the three was driving. (Supp. Tr. 10:3-11). The officers had no reason to believe they were the same three people. (Supp. Tr. 19:11-13). When the Explorer left, the officers followed. (Supp. Tr. 10:3-11). Officer Spoon testified he observed a license plate light was not working and, as a result, pulled the Explorer over. (Hertz Incident Report p.5; Minutes of Testimony; Supp. Tr. 10:22-11:3) (Conf. App. p. 19). The officers identified Haas as the driver. (Minutes of Testimony; Hertz Incident Report p.5; Supp. Tr. 36:21) (Conf. App. p. 19). The officers arrested her, then searched and towed the Explorer. (Supp. Tr. 36:24-5). Nothing illegal was found in the vehicle. (Supp. Tr. 14:15-15:1, 24:5-19).

Additional facts relevant to specific legal issues will be mentioned below, as necessary.

ARGUMENT

I. Officers were motivated to stop Haas because of her presence in front of a specific house. Lacking reasonable suspicion, the officers surveilled her vehicle for over an hour. The officers initiated a traffic stop unrelated to enforcement of the traffic law, motivated only by her presence at the house. Haas was thereby subject to an impermissible pretextual seizure in violation of article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution.

Preservation of Error: Error was preserved by the district court's adverse ruling on Haas's motion to dismiss.

(8/21/17 Motion to Suppress; Supp. Tr. 38:9-10; 10/12/17 Order Denying Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 8-18).

Merits: Haas contends her vehicle was subject to an impermissible pretextual stop. A seizure is pretextual where the officer makes a constitutional stop (e.g., to enforce the traffic code), with an obvious goal of investigating some crime for which they had no basis to initiate a stop. State v. Harrison, 846 N.W.2d 362, 371 (Iowa 2014) (Appel, J., dissenting). The United States Supreme Court has condoned pretextual stops as long as there is reasonable suspicion, but Haas argues this Court should adopt a different standard under article 1, section

8 of the Iowa Constitution. Because the stop of Haas's vehicle was pretextual, all evidence resulting from the stop must be suppressed under the Iowa Constitution.

A. Federal precedent.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right of all people to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures without a warrant supported by probable cause. U.S. Const. Amend. IV. "This inestimable right of personal security belongs as much to the citizen on the streets of our cities as to the homeowner closeted in the study to dispose of his secret affairs." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 8-9, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1873 (1968). A traffic stop is a seizure for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment, and must be reasonable if conducted without a warrant. U.S. Const. Amend. IV; Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648 at 653, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 1398 (1979). Unwarranted seizures are subject to objective standards to protect reasonable expectations of privacy "against the discretion of the official in the field." Prouse, 440 U.S. at 655, 99 S.Ct. at 1397.

Traffic stops are only reasonable if the officers are aware of "specific articulable facts, together with rational inferences from those facts, that reasonably warrant suspicion" that some law is being broken. <u>United States v. Brignoni-Ponce</u>, 422 U.S. 873, 884, 95 S.Ct. 2574, 2582 (1975). A traffic violation may be enough to render a seizure of a vehicle reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. <u>Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. at 655, 99 S.Ct. at 1397.

1. Federal embrace of pretextual seizures.

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