IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1798

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

KAYLA JEAN HAAS, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR STORY COUNTY THE HONORABLE STEVEN P. VAN MAREL (Suppression) AND HONORABLE JAMES MALLOY (Trial and Sentencing) JUDGES

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

DARREL MULLINS

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) darrel.mullins@ag.iowa.gov

JESSICA REYNOLDS Story County Attorney

JONATHON HOLSCHER Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

to the permissible inference that the owner typically drives it. *Id.* at 781. It runs counter to the principle that inferences may be fallible yet valid. *Id.* And finally, it runs counter the analysis that trains on what is observable about the driver, such as sex or identity. *Id.* at 782-83.

It matters little that *possibly* one of the men was driving Haas' vehicle. See, e.g., id. at 782 (citing Commonwealth v. Deramo, 762 N.E.2d 815, 819 (Mass. 2002) ("While it is certainly possible that someone other than a vehicle's owner may be operating the vehicle on any given occasion, the likelihood that the operator is the owner is strong enough to satisfy the reasonable suspicion standard.")). Take, for instance, Commonwealth v. Garden, 883 N.E.2d 905 (Mass. 2008). There, three men and a woman got in a Honda owned by a woman with a suspended license. Garden, 883 N.E.2d at 908. As it turned out, the driver was a man. Id. The Massachusetts Supreme Court upheld an investigatory detention because at the time of the stop, officers "did not know ... that the driver of the car was a man...." *Id.* at 909.

Here, the officers had no affirmative information that would rule out Haas as the driver. It was dark. They did not see who was driving. They did not see how many people were in the Explorer. It was possible one of the two men seen earlier was driving. It was possible a hitherto unnoticed fourth person was driving. And it was possible Haas was driving. Consistent with the prevailing inference that owners tend to be the drivers of their cars, officers correctly surmised it was Haas.

Vance controls and the district court did not err.

III. The record does not contradict testimony that Haas' license plate light was not functioning. License plates must have reflective coating. This may explain what the officers' video shows and why counsel acted as he did. Haas has not shown ineffective assistance of counsel.

Preservation of Error and Standard of Review

The State does not contest Haas' statement of error preservation or the nature of review. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Merits

Haas believes counsel breached a duty to challenge testimony that her license plate light was not functioning. To the contrary, the record supports the officer's testimony. Haas has not proven ineffective assistance of counsel.

The Constitutions of the United States and Iowa guarantee a criminal defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel.

U.S. Const. Amends. IV, XIV; Iowa Const. Art. I, § 10.² To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that:

(1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice resulted therefrom. *Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 141-42, 145 (Iowa 2001);³ *Wemark v. State*, 602 N.W.2d 810, 814 (Iowa 1999) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)).

Counsel is presumed competent. A defendant is not entitled to perfect representation but rather only that which is within the range of normal competency. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; *Karasek v*.

² Haas does not argue or cite authority for a different result or analysis under the Iowa Constitution. As such, the Court should employ existing principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3) (stating failure to cite authority in support of an issue may be deemed a waiver of that issue); *State v. Piper*, 663 N.W.2d 894, 913-14 (Iowa 2003) (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Hanes*, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550 (Iowa 2010) and declining to undertake party's research and advocacy).

³ Iowa courts have stated both these elements require proof by a "preponderance of the evidence." *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Halverson*, 857 N.W.2d 632, 635 (Iowa 2015); *Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 142 (Iowa 2001). Federal courts, however, have indicated that this incorrect, at least with respect to proof of prejudice. *Paulson v. Newton Corr. Facility, Warden*, 703 F.3d 416, 420-21 (8th Cir. 2013); *Shelton v. Mapes*, U.S. D.Ct. No. 4:12-cv-00076-JAJ (filed Sept. 9, 30, 2014) *aff'd on appeal* 821 F.3d 921 (8th Cir. 2016). Rather, the standard is whether there is a reasonable likelihood of a different result sufficient to undermine confidence in the verdict.

State, 310 N.W.2d 190, 192 (Iowa 1981). Counsel has no duty to raise a meritless objection. State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203, 208 (Iowa 1999); see also State v. Hoskins, 586 N.W. 2d 707, 709 (Iowa 1998) ("Trial counsel is not incompetent in failing to pursue a meritless issue.").

Haas believes State's Exhibit 1, the dash-cam video, "shows an illuminated license plate the entire time...." Appellant's Pr. Br. p. 79. Not necessarily so.

The Code requires a white, electric light to illuminate a rear license plate to a distance of fifty feet. Iowa Code § 321.388. The absence of such a light provides reasonable suspicion for an investigatory detention. *Lyon*, 862 N.W.2d at 398.

The Code also requires license plates to have a reflective coating. Iowa Code § 321.35. It was after dark when officers began following Haas' vehicle. Supp. Tr. p. 10, ll. 6-8; St. Ex. 1 *passim*. The lights from the patrol car illuminate Haas' license plate, so much so that reflected light bleaches it out entirely. St. Ex. 1 *passim*. At one point, though, the Explorer turns, it appears the license plate reflects only ambient light, confirming the light was out. *Id.* 24:44:42, *et seq*.

The video does not "clearly contradict" the testimony. *State v*. Griffieon, S.Ct. No. 12-2169, 2013 WL 3872840, *3 (Iowa Ct. App. July 24, 2013). The State introduced it, which does not imply it undermines the testimony. See State v. Akers, S.Ct. No. 17-0577, 2018 WL 1182616, *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 7, 2018) (finding own scrutiny of video differed from officer's testimony and noting it was the defense that offered the video). The video shows the license plate reflecting back the police car's own lights and brightly so. The one time the Explorer angles away from those lights, the license plate appears dark. As such, the video does not undermine the testimony. See State v. Spencer, S.Ct. No. 17-0360, 2018 WL 2230722, *3 (Iowa Ct. App. May 16, 2018) ("Upon our de novo review, we find there is nothing in the video evidence which undermines the officers' testimony about their observations" of a non-functioning plate light).

In some instances, a video may "speak for itself." *Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372, 378 n.5 (2007). But here it does not offer "clear contradiction" of Officer Spoon's testimony. Counsel may have surmised it was only worth inquiring whether the officer could read the plate with the benefit of his own headlights. Supp. Tr. p. 20, l. 21-p. 21, l. 3. This might suggest to counsel that the officers did not

really confirm the Explorer owner was barred. Given the record, counsel did not necessarily shoulder a burden to argue that the plate was unilluminated as well.

Neither did this choice cause Haas *Strickland* prejudice. The district court found reasonable suspicion, if not probable cause to detain Haas for driving while barred. As such, the secondary basis for the detention caused Haas no additional harm.

IV. Haas was properly ordered to repay the costs of her appointed attorney. Given Haas' case has progressed to appeal and her costs are unknown, her challenge to them is not ripe.

Preservation of Error

Haas may assert her sentence is illegal for the first time on appeal. *State v. McCright*, 569 N.W.2d 605, 608 (Iowa 1997).

Standard of Review

To the extent the claim is proper, it may be reviewed for correction of errors at law. *State v. Jenkins*, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010); *State v. Davis*, 544 N.W.2d 453, 455 (Iowa 1996).

Merits

Haas contends the district court erred to require her to repay the costs of her appointed attorney without considering her reasonable ability to pay. The contention is either mistaken or premature.

A person may be ordered to compensate the State for the costs of court-appointed representation. Iowa Code §§ 815.9(3), 910.2(2). Before imposing a specific amount as part of restitution, "the district court must determine the defendant's reasonable ability to pay it." *State v. Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d 124, 149 (Iowa 2018); *State v. Dudley*, 766 N.W.2d 606, 615 (Iowa 2009).

Haas, it is true, qualified for appointed counsel. Fin. Aff. Appl. Appt'd Counsel (filed June 12, 2017); Order (filed June 13, 2017); Conf. App. 4; App. 4. Subsequently, an indigent defense notice was filed on October 20, 2017. Ind. Def. Claim (filed Oct. 20, 2017).4 On November 1, 2017, the District Court entered judgment and imposed a fine, surcharge, and costs "to include repayment of court appointed attorney fees, *if any*." Verdict (filed Nov. 1, 2017); App. 21. "The

⁴ The content of this and other claims do not appear to have been filed through EDMS, suggesting they were not filed and therefore not part of the record. Iowa R. App. 6.301.

Court finds," it added, "the Defendant has the ability to re-pay courtappointed attorney fees and the same are ordered." *Id.*; App. 22.

Three subsequent indigent defense claim forms were submitted after notice of appeal. Ind. Def. Claim Form (filed Dec. 20, 2017), Ind. Def. Claim Form (filed Dec. 27, 2017), Ind. Def. Claim Form (filed Jan. 26, 2018). On January 29, 2018, the district court entered an order requiring Haas to pay a \$38.50 claim for attorney fees processed by the State Public Defender, finding she "has the ability to pay...." Order for Legal Assistance Fees (filed Jan. 29, 2017); App. 26. Later that day, the Court filed an order purporting to rescind a legal fees assessment of \$136.50 because the "matter is at the Supreme Court, on appeal, and the fees ordered should not have been assessed at this time." Order (filed Jan. 29, 2018); App. 28.

It appears the district court contemplated assessing attorney fees up to and including the bench trial. It had the benefit of one indigent defense claim. Indigent Defense Claim Form (filed Oct. 20, 2017). And, it determined Haas had the reasonable ability to pay. Verdict (filed Nov. 1, 2017); App. 22. But then, Haas appealed, meaning those fees would change. On January 29, 2018, rescinded a \$136.50 assessment. Order (filed Jan. 29, 2018); App. 28. Although

Iowa Courts Online "Financials" list a host of costs, fines, and surcharges, they have not been made part of the appellate record, such as by a court order or an official plan of restitution.

Haas argues the district court failed to consider her reasonable ability to pay. The record shows it did. Verdict (filed Nov. 1, 2017); App. 22.

If Haas contended the court abused its discretion in that determination, that ruling might be reviewable. *State v. Fry*, S.Ct. No. 17-0561, 2018 WL 1433129, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 21, 2018). But, there must be both a determination of reasonable ability to pay and a fixed amount to pay. Because there is no record of the latter, this matter is not ripe. As it stands, the file contains notice of several claims, but it is not clear what the State Public Defender has approved or what the court has ordered, if anything. Furthermore, the district court appears to have rescinded all legal assistance fees. Order (filed Jan. 29, 2018); App. 28.

Until there is a plan of restitution listing specific amounts to pay, a court is not required to give consideration to a defendant's ability to pay. *State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999); *State v. Pearl*, S.Ct. No. 13-0796, 2014 WL 1714490, *5 (Iowa Ct. App.

Apr. 30, 2014). Also, while it is a somewhat different question, "[w]hen a plan is entered, the defendant can seek modification, if he is dissatisfied with the amount." *Pearl*, S.Ct. No. 13-0796, 2014 WL 1714490, *5 (citing *Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357). Unless that remedy is exhausted, there is no basis for reviewing the issue. *Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357; *see also State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999); *accord State v. Callison*, 2011 WL 2694838, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011) (affirming when sentencing order did not specify a cap on fees) ("lump sum" did not delineate between other forms of restitution and attorneys' fees).

Several cases are instructive. In *Pearl*, the district ordered the defendant to repay the cost of court-appointed representation, but left blank the space which would specify the amount. S.Ct. No. 13-0796, 2013 WL 1714490, *4-5. The Court of Appeals, citing *Jackson*, found the issue premature. *Id*.

In *State v. Hols*, the Court of Appeals noted the sentencing order failed to specify the amount of court-appointed attorney fees. *State v. Hols*, 2013 WL 750307, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013). It was not available at the time of sentencing. *Id.* at *2. Accordingly, the court "le[ft] blank the spot where an amount to be paid might have been

inserted." *Id.* at *2; Judgment and Sent., p. 2; App. 265. Neither did the record contain a supplemental restitution order. *See id.* at *1–3. As such, the Court determined the issue was premature and affirmed. *Id.* at *2-3.

In *Lane*, the State Public Defender had not filed an approved amount for attorney fees. S.Ct. No. 14-0065, 2015 WL 162070, *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 14. 2015). The Court of Appeals agreed a challenge to an attorney fee order was premature.

In *State v. Marble*, the State had not yet filed a request for attorney fees "in an amount approved by the State Public Defender." S.Ct. No. 14-1190, 2015 WL 4158936, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. July 9, 2015). The Court of Appeals noted that once the request was filed, the defendant could challenge it according to the procedures in Iowa Code § 910.7. *Id.* But, without a record to be reviewed, the argument was premature. *Id.* (citing *Worthington v. Kenkel*, 684 N.W.2d 228, 234 (Iowa 2004)).

The record is unclear what Haas is obliged to pay, if anything at the moment. To the extent Haas complains there has not been a determination of her ability to pay, first, there has. But, second, whether it is an abuse of discretion is unknowable without a record in the district court file of the amount imposed. The Court should conclude the matter is not ripe and allow it to proceed, if necessary, according to the restitution challenge procedures.

CONCLUSION

The judgment should be affirmed.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

The State asks to be heard only if the Court grants the defendant's request for oral argument.